ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Williamsburg County

Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRITTANY EMOESHA EPPS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001806

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV 29 2017

SC Court of Appeals

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err in not permitting Appellant to impeach two witnesses concerning their pending charges in violation of Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation where the probative value of the pending charges was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 31, 2014, a Williamsburg County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime in a multi-count indictment (2014-GS-45-0159). R. 891-892. The state, represented by Kimberly V. Barr and Julie Swilley, called the case for trial on March 28 – April 1, 2016, before the Honorable Howard P. King and a jury. R. 1. Deborah J. Butcher represented Appellant. Mistrial 1. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury was unable to reach a verdict. R. 10, l. 14 – R. 12, l. 17. Judge King declared a mistrial. R. 12, ll. 18-20.

On July 26, 2016, the state, represented by Barr, called the case for trial again before Judge King and a jury. R. 13. Butcher represented Appellant. R. 13. During the deliberations process, the jury requested to hear the 911 recording again. R. 871, l. 17 – R. 872, l. 19; R. 888. The jurors also requested to hear the testimony of a particular witness. R. 874, ll. 8-22; R. 889. Despite the jurors unanimously agreeing that listening to a portion of the witness's testimony satisfied their needs, the judge, in response to the state's request, required the jurors to listen to the witness's testimony in its entirety. R. 875, l. 12 – R. 878, l. 4. The jurors also asked if it would be possible to find Appellant "guilty of count two but not count one." R. 875, ll. 15-18; R. 890. The judge told the jury foreman, "the simple answer to that question was no." R. 878, ll. 20-21. At the conclusion of the second trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 880, ll. 14-22.

On the state's motion, Judge King deferred sentencing until August 2014. R. 883, ll. 13-16; R. 884, l. 15 – R. 885, l. 5. On August 24, 2016, the state called for the sentencing of Appellant by Judge King. R. 886. At the conclusion of the brief sentencing proceeding, Judge

King sentenced Appellant to forty-five years' imprisonment for murder and to five years' imprisonment for the firearm. R. 887, ll. 3-14; R. 893-894.

On August 30, 2016, Appellant, through counsel, served her notice of appeal. However, trial counsel placed the name of the wrong county in the caption of the notice. In response to a notice of this deficiency, trial counsel filed an amended notice of appeal on September 9, 2016.

This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

When they were teenagers, Appellant and Jessica Jackson<sup>1</sup> met in a group home and developed a romantic relationship. R. 129, ll. 5-9; R. 130, ll. 3-9; R. 590, ll. 12-15; R. 592, ll. 10-21; R. 754, ll. 22-24. Sixteen-year old Appellant returned to her hometown of Kingstree when she was permitted to leave the group home. R. 128, ll. 22-23; R. 130, ll. 10-15. Although Jackson was not from Kingstree, Jackson followed Appellant to Kingstree. R. 132, ll. 4-13. Appellant's mother did not approve of the relationship between Appellant and Jackson, who was two years older than Appellant. R. 128, ll. 19-21; R. 132, ll. 1-3; R. 134, ll. 3-5; R. 150, ll. 10-18; R. 151, ll. 5-7; R. 754, ll. 18-21. Jackson moved in with Theodore McKnight, who was a friend of Appellant's family. R. 132, ll. 14-20; R. 134, ll. 15-20; R. 591, ll. 19-23; R. 592, ll. 3-4. In light of Appellant's mother's disapproval, Appellant stayed with Jackson at McKnight's home as well. R. 134, ll. 3-5; R. 592, ll. 4-9; R. 754, ll. 3-4; R. 754, ll. 18-21. Appellant suspected that McKnight and Jackson were having sex when she was not around. R. 592, l. 22 – R. 593, l. 18.

In early March 2014, Appellant, Jackson, and Appellant's aunt, Vanity Epps, were at a gas station in Kingstree. R. 140, l. 15 – R. 142, l. 7. They ran into Joseph Brown, the deceased, while there. R. 140, l. 15 – R. 142, l. 7. Brown offered to pay Jackson for sex, but his offer was refused at the time. R. 143, ll. 13-18; R. 595, l. 24 – R. 596, l. 10.

However, on March 29, 2014, Appellant and Jackson walked to Brown's home. R. 158, ll. 20-21; R. 596, ll. 12-13. While Brown left to run an errand, he allowed Appellant and Jackson

---

<sup>1</sup> At the time of Appellant's trial, Jessica Jackson had entered a guilty plea to attempted murder for involvement in the death of Joseph Brown. R. 127, ll. 3-4. She had not been sentenced, however. R. 127, ll. 5-10. Jackson was charged originally with murder, which carried a mandatory minimum sentence of thirty years' imprisonment and a maximum sentence of life. R. 229, ll. 14-19.

to remain at his home. R. 160, ll. 5-7; R. 596, ll. 15-22. Jackson used this opportunity to steal a few things. R. 160, ll. 21-22; R. 161, ll. 1-9; R. 164, ll. 6-12. When Brown returned, he invited them to a cookout. R. 165, l. 1; R. 596, ll. 23-24. All three went to the cookout in nearby Greeleyville. R. 167, l. 25 – R. 168, l. 6; R. 596, l. 25 – R. 596, l. 2. During the cookout, Jackson led Brown and others to believe she was a prostitute. R. 249, ll. 16-22.

After the cookout, Brown took Jackson and Appellant to McKnight's home. R. 597, l. 5 – R. 598, l. 6. Appellant wanted to buy some marijuana, and McKnight wanted to buy some alcohol. R. 598, ll. 7-9. Jackson had agreed to have sex with Brown in exchange for money. R. 598, ll. 9-17. All four got into Brown's car. R. 250, ll. 6-8; R. 600, ll. 3-4. Brown dropped off Appellant at a store from where she could walk to buy marijuana. R. 600, ll. 8-19. Brown, Jackson, and McKnight drove away as Appellant walked away. R. 600, ll. 20-25.

When Appellant was walking to the spot where they had agreed to meet, she saw Jackson, who was wearing only a bra and a pair of shorts, sitting at a driveway. R. 40, l. 22 – R. 41, l. 1; R. 601, ll. 1-2; R. 602, ll. 5-11. Appellant noticed Jackson's fingers were bleeding. R. 601, ll. 4-5; R. 602, ll. 14-15. Appellant and Jackson began panicking. R. 601, ll. 5-6. Appellant suggested they walk to Pearline Pressley's home, which was nearby, to call an ambulance. R. 602, ll. 15-17. While Appellant and Jackson walked to Pearline's home, McKnight met up with them. R. 602, ll. 19-20. They explained they were going to call an ambulance, and McKnight accompanied them to Pearline's. R. 602, ll. 20-24.

Pearline did not have a telephone; therefore, Appellant walked across the street to get a phone from a neighbor. R. 39, ll. 7-10; R. 42, ll. 15-20; R. 203, ll. 17-21; R. 603, ll. 3-6. Appellant carried the neighbor's cordless phone back to Pearline's, where Jackson remained, and called 911. R. 25, ll. 12-23; R. 44, ll. 6-9; R. 207, ll. 5-14; R. 603, l. 3 – R. 604, l. 3; State's

Exhibit #1. Soon, an ambulance and a police officer arrived. R. 44, ll. 21-24; R. 49, ll. 14-20; R. 208, ll. 12-23; R. 604, ll. 4-9. Jackson left with the ambulance while Appellant spoke to the officer. R. 57, ll. 4-20; R. 604, ll. 8-14. Appellant told the officer that Jackson shot her hand during a hunting accident – this was a story she was told to tell. R. 52, ll. 12-20; R. 604, ll. 15-21. Wanting to check on Jackson, Appellant told the officer she was going to her aunt's house and then to the hospital. R. 58, ll. 2-8; R. 61, ll. 17-23; R. 604, ll. 12-14. At some point during this commotion, McKnight left. R. 609, ll. 9-15.

Appellant then walked to her aunt's house. R. 605, ll. 7-17. Appellant and her aunt went to the hospital in Kingstree to check on Jackson, but they discovered she had been taken to the hospital in Florence instead. R. 605, ll. 18-22. Appellant's aunt refused to take her to Florence so they returned to her home where they went to sleep. R. 605, ll. 20-22.

The next day, Appellant learned the police were looking for her when they arrived at her aunt's home. R. 606, ll. 14-22. Young and afraid, Appellant reached out to her mother, who turned to her mother, Appellant's grandmother, in order to determine what to do. R. 606, l. 16 – R. 607, ll. 8. Appellant, along with her mother and grandmother, went to the police station so that Appellant could turn herself in. R. 606, ll. 12-13; R. 607, ll. 9-14.

The reason the police were looking for Appellant quickly became apparent. Jackson told police that she and Appellant were involved in Brown's death.<sup>2</sup> According to Jackson, while she and Appellant were with Brown, he showed them a gun he had in his jacket pocket. R. 165, l. 24

---

<sup>2</sup> Jackson told multiple stories to the police. First, she said she was shot during a hunting accident. R. 214, ll. 3-8. Next, she said she was shot when Brown was trying to rape her. R. 215, l. 1; R. 345, l. 11 – R. 346, l. 8. In relaying this story, Jackson said she agreed to have sex with Brown for money, but that she shot him instead. R. 232, l. 4 – R. 237, l. 11. Third, she told the police that she, Jackson, shot Brown and that Appellant was merely present. R. 215, l. 21 – R. 217, l. 11; R. 238, ll. 1-11; R. 346, ll. 9-18. However, it was not long before Jackson settled on the story she gave at trial regarding the botched robbery. R. 218, ll. 10-16; R. 346, ll. 19-25; R. 347, ll. 6-10.

– R. 166, l. 12. Jackson also claimed that Brown placed the gun in the glove compartment of his Cadillac when the trio went to the cookout. R. 170, ll. 2-8. While at the cookout, Jackson asserted, Appellant said she wanted to shoot Brown with the gun so that she could steal his car and his gun. R. 175, ll. 1-5. Jackson claimed the plan was for her to cut the straps off her pocketbook and wrap those straps around Brown’s neck in order to be a distraction to allow Appellant to get the gun from the glove compartment. R. 175, ll. 16-22. Jackson admitted she was going to choke Brown with the pocketbook straps. R. 175, l. 23 – R. 176, l. 1. Jackson elaborated on the plan – (1) Appellant was going to lead Brown into a deserted area, (2) Jackson was going to announce the code word, “take off,” (3) Jackson would put the pocketbook straps around his neck, and (4) Appellant would pull the gun out. R. 177, ll. 5-12.

Jackson claimed she used the code word and placed the pocketbook straps around him. R. 183, ll. 10-15. She said her hands were sweaty so she let go, however. R. 183, ll. 16-17. Also, she claimed that Appellant and Brown (and perhaps even Jackson) were going for the gun and a struggle ensued. R. 183, l. 20 – R. 184, l. 1; R. 245, ll. 8-10. According to Jackson, Appellant got the gun and fired. R. 184, ll. 1-2. During the ensuing chaos, a bullet hit Jackson’s thumb. R. 184, ll. 3-4. Jackson later returned the gun to the glove compartment. R. 210, ll. 6-10.

Jackson claimed that despite her injury, she helped Appellant place Brown’s body in the trunk of the car. R. 192, l. 10 – R. 193, l. 19. Jackson could not explain why Brown’s pants were down and his shirt was up when he was found by the police, but she disputed his clothes were arranged this way because he was preparing for sex with her. R. 193, ll. 20-22. According to Jackson, she and Appellant then tried to get the car out of the mud, but it was too bogged down. R. 199, ll. 7-24. Unable to get the car to move, Jackson and Appellant looked for help,

and saw a man walking down the street. R. 202, ll. 7-13. This man referred them to Pearline. R. 202, ll. 15-16.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in not permitting Appellant to impeach two witnesses concerning their pending charges in violation of Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation where the probative value of the pending charges was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

### **A. The trial judge erred in not permitting Appellant to impeach Theodore McKnight with his pending charge of murder.**

Trial counsel planned to call Theodore McKnight as a witness during Appellant's case-in-chief. R. 584, ll. 9-11. Trial counsel advised that she wanted to impeach McKnight "with a criminal record of a later charge pending against him for a murder that occurred some two years after this event." R. 584, ll. 11-14. The judge ruled that "any testimony with regard to Mr. McKnight's criminal record of a pending charge of murder after this [was] not admissible and [could not] be gone into." R. 584, ll. 22-25. The judge offered no other explanation or elaboration of his ruling.

McKnight's testimony was important in light of Appellant's insistence that he was present and likely involved in Brown's death, and Jackson's claim that he was not there. Additionally, an independent witness tended to support Appellant's version of events.

Samuel Barr lived near Pearline. R. 67, ll. 10-20. On March 29, 2010, Barr was listening to his police scanner when he heard about a shooting nearby. R. 67, l. 21 – R. 68, l. 17. "Being nosey," Barr decided to investigate. R. 68, l. 21 – R. 69, l. 6. Barr saw an ambulance in Pearline's yard. R. 69, ll. 17-20. He then saw a reflection of a tail light of a car sitting in the woods farther down the street. R. 70, ll. 9-14. He pulled closer to have a better look. R. 71, ll. 10-13. Shortly, a man approached Barr. R. 71, ll. 15-16; R. 73, l. 25 – R. 74, l. 8. The man said

his girlfriend made him drive his car into the woods. R. 71, ll. 18-22. Barr got back into his truck and left. R. 71, ll. 23-25.

Trial counsel called McKnight as a witness during Appellant's case-in-chief. McKnight denied having anything to do with Brown's death. R. 755, ll. 16-18. He denied being picked up by Appellant, Jackson, and Brown. R. 756, ll. 16-19. He denied receiving a ride in order to pick up some liquor. R. 756, ll. 20-22. He denied having a plan with Jackson to rob Brown. R. 757, ll. 5-15.

McKnight admitted to being incarcerated in the Williamsburg County Detention Center from March 2015 up through day of Appellant's trial. R. 760, l. 24 – R. 761, l. 3. He also admitted to knowing Schain McCrea and that the two were in the jail at the same time in 2015. However, McKnight denied ever speaking to McCrea at the jail. R. 761, ll. 18-20.

After McKnight's denials, trial counsel called McCrea to impeach McKnight. McCrea told the jury he was in the county jail between March 2015 and June 2015. R. 776, ll. 17-18. He also explained that he had known McKnight since he was twelve-years old. R. 776, ll. 19-25. In sharp contrast to McKnight, McCrea stated that he and McKnight talked to each other "just about every morning" while in jail. R. 777, ll. 7-16. McCrea and McKnight discussed the shooting death of Brown while the two men were in jail. R. 778, l. 25 – R. 779, l. 8.

McKnight knew "exactly what happened." R. 779, ll. 10-11. He "was there." R. 779, ll. 14-15. McKnight, Brown, and Jackson dropped Appellant off. R. 779, ll. 16-17; R. 779, l. 21 – R. 780, l. 1. Jackson and Brown were supposed to have sex in exchange for money. R. 779, ll. 17-18; R. 780, ll. 2-9. McKnight and Jackson planned to rob Brown, "but somehow they end[ed] up killing him." R. 779, ll. 17-20; R. 780, ll. 15-19. McKnight admitted that Brown was shot, but he would not say who shot Brown. R. 780, l. 20 – R. 781, l. 4.

During McCrea's testimony, the judge instructed the jurors that "the testimony of" McCrea could not be considered "on whether the alleged statements made by the previous witness to this witness [were] true, but only to the credibility of the previous witness." R. 778, ll. 6-13. He informed the jurors they "must not consider the testimony" of McCrea "for any purpose other than the credibility of the previous witness and not the truth of the matters to which the witness will testify." R. 778, ll. 13-17. He could not "emphasize enough" that the jury "must not consider the testimony of this witness as true of the matters to which he is testifying, but only," and he emphasized only, "as to the credibility of the previous witness." R. 778, ll. 17-21.

**B. The trial judge erred in not permitting Appellant to impeach Mark Hatten with his pending charges of malicious injury to property and assault and battery.**

The state wanted to call Mark Hatten as a witness to establish that he "was the previous owner of... [the] '94 Cadillac vehicle that's involved in this case." R. 264, ll. 16-18. According to the solicitor, Hatten sold the car to the deceased in 2012, and his testimony would "be with regard to ownership of that vehicle." R. 264, ll. 19-20. When pressed, the solicitor admitted she wanted Hatten to testify about "[o]wnership of the vehicle and ... [to] identify the key, remote, and the chain." R. 264, ll. 22-23. Trial counsel explained she wanted to impeach Hatten with charges pending against him in Williamsburg County to show Hatten's "motive to be biased towards the state's side, ... under [Rule] 608." R. 264, ll. 4-8. Trial counsel explained Hatten may be "biased towards the state looking for some leniency towards the adjudication of those pending charges." R. 265, ll. 12-15. She explained this was particularly important as he would identify the remote and key chain in the state's possession as belonging to the specific car. R. 265, ll. 18-24.

During the proffer, Hatten indicated that he sold the Cadillac to the deceased, and identified relevant paperwork to that effect. R. 266, l. 21 – R. 267, l. 6. He also indicated that the police asked him about the key chain and remote to the Cadillac, but that the police had not shown the items to him. R. 267, ll. 7-15. He indicated that by making his “accurate description” he was making a “positive identification.” R. 267, ll. 7-17. He further indicated he gave “the keys, key chain, and key fob” to the deceased when he sold him the car. R. 267, ll. 18-21.

Hatten stated he was not aware of any pending charges in Williamsburg County. R. 273, ll. 2-4. He indicated “everything was dismissed.” R. 273, l. 8. When asked about a pending charge for assault and battery, he stated, the charge was “never filed.” R. 273, ll. 11-12. Regarding a pending charge of malicious injury to property from 2012, Hatten said it was “dismissed or handled.” R. 273, ll. 13-16. He then said “the case was a mistake” and he received “a 25-dollar fine.” R. 273, ll. 16-18. He was “let out of jail on flag day, the day before flag day.” R. 273, ll. 18-19.

The judge queried defense counsel:

Tell me how that, the fact that those two matters is biased, prejudiced, or motive to misrepresent the testimony ‘cause what the issue here is whether he is misrepresenting his testimony and how is that evidence he’s misrepresenting the testimony that (a) he owned the car, (b) that this key fob came from the Arizona dealership with that car. Now how is that evidence of motive to misrepresent those things?

R. 274, l. 22 – R. 275, l. 6. Defense counsel explained the pending charges would provide a motive “to gain some favor from the state on those charges.” R. 275, ll. 7-10. The judge continued to challenge defense counsel by asking how the pending charges were “evidence of bias to misrepresent or prejudice to misrepresent or motive to misrepresent?” R. 275, ll. 14-17. He explained that was “the test,” “if he’s got any reason to say anything that’s not true; that’s why you would impeach him.” R. 275, ll. 17-20. He wanted to know why the pending charges

would show Hatten “would have any reason to show anything is not true based upon the testimony that he gave about the ownership of the car and the key fob?” R. 275, ll. 20-23.

Defense counsel responded that Hatten may claim to recognize the key chain when he actually does not in order to curry favor with the state – “the motive to show the bias of why he would be untruthful.” R. 275, l. 24 – R. 276, l. 3.

The solicitor informed the judge that she had never spoken to Hatten. R. 277, ll. 5-7.

She argued that

if the question before the jury is we’re trying to get them to the truth, and trial really is a search for the truth, to put it and throughout this trial and imply throughout this trial this witness who has no interest or bias or motive in this case at all, to just try to effect the well and have this jury believe that, well, the charges may or may not be pending, but if they are pending we’re really trying to get help from the state for a charge that’s apparently by all accounts four years old at this point.

R. 277, ll. 8-18. Then, the state went to her fallback position that the prejudicial effect of mentioning the pending charges from 2012 was clearly outweighed by the probative effect of the evidence. R. 277, l. 19 – R. 278, l. 2.

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