ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Williamsburg County
The Honorable Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

BRITTANY EMOESHA EPPS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-001806

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit
141 N. Main St.
Sumter, South Carolina 29150
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
NOV 29 2017
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant's Confrontation Clause argument is not preserved for review. South Carolina Rules of Evidence prohibit Appellant's impeachment of a State's witness with pending charges that are unsubstantiated, irrelevant, and needlessly distracting to the jury.

The trial court committed no error when he prohibited the impeachment of two witnesses with evidence of pending charges against them. This Court must consider the admissibility of the pending charges differently for witness Hatten, called during the State's case in chief, and witness McKnight, called by the defense. Appellant argues on appeal the trial court's limitation on her scope of examination of Hatten and McKnight violated her rights under the Confrontation clause, but this issue was never raised to the trial court. *See* IBOA at 9. Instead, Appellant argued the charges were admissible under South Carolina Rule of Evidence 608 (c) as evidence of motivation to misrepresent the facts. (R. p. 265, lines 4-8; p. 274, lines 1-6.)

In the case of Hatten, the court found the pending charges were not of any significance to show bias in his identification of a key fob for the automobile he once owned. (R. p. 275, line 14 – p. 280, line 10.) The trial court also determined the charges were not relevant, and were unduly prejudicial, so he properly limited Appellant's cross examination on the magistrate level charges. (R. p. 278, line 3 – p. 279, line 24.)

Standard of Review

"The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are based on an error of law. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice. *State v. Kelley*, 319

S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). “As a general rule, a trial court’s ruling on the proper scope of cross-examination will not be disturbed on appeal.” *State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 256, 746 S.E.2d 495, 499 (Ct. App. 2013).

The Constitutional Argument Is Not Preserved For Review

The general rule of issue preservation states that if an issue was not raised and ruled upon below, it will not be considered for the first time on appeal. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691(2003); *State v. Lee*, 350 S.C. 125, 564 S.E.2d 372 (Ct.App.2002). Our courts have “consistently refused to apply the plain error rule.” *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 306, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997) (citations omitted). Instead, we have held: “it is the responsibility of counsel to preserve issues for appellate review.” *Id.*

The issue preservation requirement applies to assertions of constitutional violations as well. In *Bakala v. Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 576 S.E.2d 156 (2003), the court held that “[a] due process claim raised for the first time on appeal is not preserved.” *Id.* at 625, 576 S.E.2d at 163 (citing *Grant v. South Carolina Coastal Council*, 319 S.C. 348, 461 S.E.2d 388 (1995)). And in *State v. McWee*, 322 S.C. 387, 472 S.E.2d 235 (1996), where appellant asserted violations of due process and his Eighth Amendment rights, the court said, “this issue is not preserved for review because at trial, appellant never cited any constitutional basis for his request to give a parole eligibility charge.” *Id.* at 391, 472 S.E.2d at 238 (citations omitted).

At no point during the trial proceedings did Appellant raise a Confrontation clause issue to the trial court in support of her argument the pending criminal charges against both witnesses should be admitted. Appellant only argued Rule 608(c), SCRE, permitted the impeachment of Hatten to show evidence of bias. (R. p. 274, lines 1-6.) The trial court gave a lengthy analysis of the application of Rule 608(c) to the facts at hand. (R. p. 278, line 3 – p. 279, line 16.) Epps

sought only to have the pending charges admitted for the purpose of impeaching Hatten's credibility, without specifying she was relying on the Confrontation Clause in making her request. Appellant failed to put the trial judge on notice that she was making a Confrontation Clause argument. Because the trial judge did not have the opportunity to rule upon Confrontation Clause rationale, the issue is not preserved for appeal. However, even on the merits, Appellant cannot show the trial court abused his discretion in limiting her questioning of Hatten.

Even on the Merits, the Pending Charges Were Not Admissible

“A defendant demonstrates a Confrontation Clause violation when he is prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate cross-examination designed to show a prototypical form of bias . . . from which jurors . . . could draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.” *State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 372, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). “The right to meaningful cross-examination of an adverse witness is included in the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to confront his accusers. This does not mean, however, that trial courts conducting criminal trials lose their usual discretion to limit the scope of cross-examination. On the contrary, ‘trial judges retain wide latitude insofar as the Confrontation Clause is concerned to impose reasonable limits on such cross-examination based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness’ safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant.’” *State v. Aleskey*, 343 S.C. 20, 33, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000) (citing *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673 (1986)).

Although Appellant addresses the Confrontation Clause as it applies to both witnesses, the limitation on her right to confront Hatten, as a State’s witness, is entirely different from the limitation on her right to confront McKnight, her own witness. “The principal evil at which the Confrontation Clause was directed was the civil-law mode of criminal procedure, and

particularly its use of ex parte examinations as evidence **against the accused.**" *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 50 (2004) (emphasis added). Generally speaking, the Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective **cross-examination**, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish. *Delaware v. Fensterer*, 474 U.S. 15, 20 (1985) (emphasis added).

"Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced." Rule 608(c), SCRE. However, "[s]pecific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness' credibility, other than a conviction of crime as provided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence." Rule 608(b), SCRE (emphasis added). In the discretion of the court, specific instances may be inquired into on cross-examination if the specific instances concern "the witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness." *Id*

How the Issue Arose at Trial: Hatten

The State elected to call Mark Hatten, who was the previous owner of Joseph Brown's Cadillac. Hatten sold the car to the victim in 2012, and he could identify the car key, key chain, and remote key fob. Hatten's testimony was limited in relevance to the ownership and identification of the Cadillac and its component parts. (R. p. 264, lines 16-20.)

Appellant sought to impeach Hatten's credibility with pending charges pursuant to Rule 608, SCRE. (R. p. 265, lines 4-8.) Appellant argued the pending charges gave Hatten a bias toward the State because he might receive leniency on the pending charges if he testified favorably to the State on the identification of the Cadillac's keychain and remote control. (R. p. 265, line 12 – p. 266, line 6.) The State then proffered the testimony of Hatten. (R. pp. 266-273.) In his proffer, Hatten identified the key chain, which contained the logo and telephone

information of the Arizona dealership from where the Cadillac was purchased. (R. p. 268, line 16 – p. 269, line 15.)

When questioned about his pending charges, Hatten testified he did not believe he had any pending charges. Hatten explained the assault and battery charge was never filed and a malicious injury to property charge involved a \$25 fine, which he paid. (R. p. 273, lines 1-20.) When the court asked Appellant what the charges had to do with his identification of the car, keychain, and remote, Appellant argued the charges gave him motive to lie to help the State. (R. p. 274, line 18 – p. 275, line 10.) Appellant also acknowledged she was unable to provide a certified copy of the pending charges to prove they were actually pending. (R. p. 274, lines 15-16.) Appellant conceded, however, the charges were not admissible pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE. (R. p. 280, lines 5-8.)

The solicitor explained that they were unaware of any charges against Hatten, having performed a criminal records check four days prior to the start of trial. (R. p. 276, lines 14-23.) Regardless, however, the State argued that pending charges of this minor significance did not present the requisite relevance under a 403 analysis and would instead be highly prejudicial to suggest the witness would lie to the jury about the identification of dealership information on the keychain. (R. p. 277, line 4 – p. 278, line 2.)

Trial court analyzed admissibility under 608(c) and determined the pending charges, which were questionable at best, presented no motive, bias, or prejudice to misrepresent the facts. (R. p. 279, lines 16.) The trial court went on to find the evidence of pending charges was inadmissible because the prejudicial effect substantially outweighed its probative value. (R. p. 279, lines 17-24.)

Appellant argues Mark Hatten's pending charges in Williamsburg County were evidence of motive for him to lie on the stand. (R. p. 265, lines 4-8.) However, Appellant fails to demonstrate any tangible link between the disposition of the charges, which Hatten claimed were long since effectuated, and his testimony in this case. Appellant presents no evidence whatsoever that Hatten's testimony would in any way benefit him in prior assault and battery charge and malicious injury to property charges. In fact, Hatten denied knowing anything about the charges when he proffered his testimony to the court. (R. p. 273, lines 2-16.) The charges were magistrate level charges and the solicitor knew nothing about the charges until Appellant brought them to her attention. (R. p. 274, line 8 – p. 316, line 4.)

Neither the law enforcement agency with responsibility for the charges nor the prosecuting entity was the same for the two matters, so any connection is speculative. *See State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 246, 256, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013). Appellant failed to present anything more specific for the trial court's consideration other than it appears the magistrate's level offenses arose before Appellant's trial and were dismissed or adjudicated by the magistrate before Appellant's trial. It is unknown why the charges were showing as still pending from Appellant's records search, but the statements of the solicitor and the testimony of Hatten clearly show no motivation to testify favorably for the State in exchange for some kind of leniency. Where Appellant fails to present any evidence and merely speculates as to Hatten's bias or motivation for testifying, a trial court does not abuse its discretion in limiting the cross-examination. *Id*; *see also Alesksey*, 343 S.C. at 34, 538 S.E.2d at 255 (finding that dismissed drug charges are not admissible as prior bad acts under Rule 609, "[n]or are the dismissed indictments evidence of 'bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent' under Rule 608(c)).

The sole purpose of Hatten's testimony was to identify the keychain and fob found in the yard of Appellant's aunt as belonging to the Cadillac he owned before Joseph Brown. (R. p. 264, lines 16-25.) The keychain was distinctive because it advertised the dealership in Arizona where Hatten's mother originally purchased the car before giving it to Hatten. (R. p. 268, line 16 - p. 269, line 17.) The information about the dealership was clearly visible on the keychain and the title work to the car showed Mark Hatten as the owner. (R. p. 270, lines 3 – 16.) Hatten simply had no reason to lie about his recognition of the keychain.

The trial court correctly determined the possible existence of pending charges did not have a legitimate tendency to show bias on the part of Hatten in favor of the State. The incidents occurred before Appellant's trial, do not relate to Appellant or bias in favor of anyone, and do not otherwise relate to his credibility. *See State v. Burgess*, 393 S.C. 396, 712 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating that while incidents documented in law enforcement officer's employment records might show the officer was hot-tempered, the trial court properly denied cross-examination about the matters because they did not show bias or otherwise relate to credibility where the incidents occurred after the defendant's arrest and did not relate to the defendant or the manner of the defendant's apprehension).

Moreover, no prejudice is shown and any error in the exclusion of the evidence is harmless. *See Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U. S. 673, 684 (1986) (finding the constitutionally improper denial of a defendant's opportunity to impeach a witness for bias, like other Confrontation Clause errors, is subject to harmless-error analysis); *see also State v. Whatley*, 407 S.C. 460, 468 – 69, 756 S.E.2d 393, 397 (Ct. App. 2014) (stating a violation of the Confrontation Clause is subject to a harmless error analysis and whether error is harmless depends on a number of factors, including the importance of the witnesses' testimony in the State's case, whether the

testimony is cumulative, the presence of corroborating or contradictory testimony of the witness on significant points, the extent of cross-examination conducted by the defendant, and the strength of the State's case.); *State v. McEachern*, 399 S.C. 125, 731 S.E.2d 604 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating that a violation of the Confrontation Clause is subject to harmless error analysis). The prosecution in this case could prove ownership of the car and its place of purchase through the title work. The keychain had distinctive markings from the Arizona dealership. As such, Hatten's supposed motivation to falsely testify would be thwarted by a plain visual inspection of the keychain. Regardless of whether the jury heard about Hatten's previous charges, the admissibility of the keychain into evidence rendered the limitation harmless.

II. Appellant's Confrontation Clause argument is not preserved for review. In her defense, Appellant improperly called the witness solely for the purpose of impeaching his testimony. Further, the pending charge was irrelevant, highly prejudicial, and only offered as subterfuge to suggest the defense witness was the actual murderer.

Appellant is constitutionally guaranteed an effective cross-examination of the witnesses against her. Appellant is **not** constitutionally guaranteed an unlimited direct examination of a witness she elects to call at trial in her own defense. As noted earlier, however, Appellant did not raise a Confrontation Clause concern at trial. Instead, the trial court ruled on the admissibility of the pending charges in accordance with the rules of evidence. In her defense, Appellant improperly called McKnight solely for the purpose of impeaching his testimony with a pending murder charge and with the testimony of Schain McCrea. Appellant has no Confrontation Clause protection for a witness she called. Further, the trial court properly found the pending murder charge was inadmissible. The pending charge was highly prejudicial and irrelevant to McKnight's testimony, unless Appellant sought to use the pending charge to cast McKnight as

the actual killer. Appellant is not permitted to use the pretense of impeachment evidence as subterfuge to introduce otherwise inadmissible information to the jury.

How the Issue Arose at Trial: McKnight

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